
Case 1:14-cv-22129-JEM   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/09/2014   Page 1 of 17Sealed 

JUN 0 9 2014 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

STEVEN M. LARIMORE 
CLERK U.S. DIST. CT. 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, and 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

YOUR YELLOW PAGES, INC., a Florida 
corporation, also doing business as EBS 
COLLECTIONS, 

RAPID PAGES, INC., a Florida corporation, 
also doing business as RAPID YELLOW 
PAGES, 

CITY PAGES, INC., a Florida corporation, 
also doing business as CITY YELLOW 
PAGES and ONLINE CITY YELLOW 
PAGES, 

DONOVAN B. HINDS 
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Plaintiffs, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC" or "Commission"), and the State of 

Florida, for their Complaint allege: 

1. The FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) ofthe Federal Trade Commission 

Act ("FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to obtain temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive 

relief, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitn 
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9. Defendant Rapid Pages, Inc. ("Rapid''), also doing business as Rapid Yellow 

Pages, is a Florida corporation with its principal place of business at 495 Grand Boulevard, 

Miramar Beach, Florida 32550. Defendant Rapid transacts or has transacted business in this 

district and throughout the United States. During the time period March 2013 through January 

2014, Rapid deposited more than $900,000 in payments made to it by consumers into its 

corporate bank account. 

10. Defendant City Pages, Inc., ("City'') also doing business as City Yellow Pages 

and Online City Yellow Pages, is a Florida corporation with its principal place of business at 113 

South Monroe Street, First Floor, Tallahassee, Florida 33319. Defendant City is the registered 

owner of the fictitious name City Yellow Pages, whose mailing address, registered with the 

Florida Department of State, Division at 113 

South 
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Hinds incorporated Defendant YYP through the Florida Department of State, Division of 

Corporations and listed himself as the president and registered agent. 

13. Thereafter, Defendant Hinds incorporated Defendant City on or about February 

15,2013. Defendant Hinds listed himself as the president and registered agent. Next, on or 

about March 8, 2013, Defendant Hinds registered City Yellow Pages as a fictitious name f9.65 584.654.4804Tc 1.156 00193 Tc 2td on F0, p r e 8 i 4 . 2 1  1 0 . 0 2 4 2  T c . 5 6 8  0  T d 
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transacted business in this district and throughout the United States, including in the State of 

Florida. 

18. Defendant Baxter opened virtual offices, mail boxes, and mail forwarding 

accounts associated with Corporate Defendants. In some instances, Defendant Baxter had the 

mail from these boxes forwarded to a Canadian address. In other instances, Defendant Baxter 

had the mail forwarded to Defendant YYP's mail drop, from which it was then forwarded to 

Canada. Specifically, Baxter opened the following: 

a. On or about April12, 2012, Defendant Baxter registered an Offix virtual 
office suite, located at 7950 NW 53rd Street, Suite 337, Miami, FL 33166, on 
behalf of Defendant YYP and EBS Collections. Baxter had the mail from this 
address forwarded to himself at The UPS Store, 4148A St. Catherine Street W ., 
Suite #135, Westmount, Quebec Canada; 

b. On or about November 13, 2012, Defendant Baxter registered a Regus 
virtual office suite, located at 970 Lake Carillon Drive, Suite 300, St. Petersburg, 
FL 33716, on behalf of Defendant YYP and United Group, Ltd. Baxter had the 
mail from this address forwarded to himself at The UPS Store, 4148A St. 
Catherine Street W., Suite 135, Westmount, Quebec Canada; 

c. On or about January 8, 2013, Defendant Baxter registered a Regus virtual 
office suite, located at 113 South Monroe Street, 1st Floor, Tallahassee, FL 32301 
on behalf of Defendant City. According to the Online Virtual Office Agreement 
electronically signed by Defendant Baxter, his contact address was a street 
address d
(street )Tj
VahTf
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f. On or about January 17, 2013, Defendant Baxter registered a Regus virtual 
office suite, located at 495 Grand Blvd., Miramar Beach, FL 32550, on behalf of 
Defendant Rapid. According to the Online Virtual Office Agreement 
electronically signed by Defendant Baxter, his contact address is in Montreal, 
Canada; 

g. On or about March 27, 2013, Defendant Baxter registered a Regus virtual 
office suite, located at 15305 Dallas Parkway, Suite 300, Addison, TX 75001, on 
behalf of Defendant Rapid. According to the Online Virtual Office Agreement 
electronically signed by Defendant Baxter his contact address is in Montreal, 
Canada; 

h. On or about July 3, 2013, Defendant Baxter registered a USA2Me virtual 
office suite, located at 1 0685-B Hazelhurst Drive, Houston, TX 77043, on behalf 
of Defendant Rapid. Although this account was registered in the name of Carl 
Jenkins, the picture identification provided for account was that of Defendant 
Baxter. The account lists Defendant Baxter's address as Montreal, Canada; and 

i. On or about August 13, 2013, Defendant Baxter registered a Regus virtual 
office suite, located at 2500 Plaza 5, Harborside Financial Center, 25th Floor, 
Jersey City, NJ 07311, on behalf of Defendant Rapid. According to the Online 
Virtual Office Agreement electronically signed by Defendant Baxter, his contact 
address was YYP's virtual office and mail drop, located at 970 Lake Carillon 
Drive, Suite 300, St. Petersburg, FL 33176. 

19. Defendant Baxter is the registrant contact, billing contact, administrative contact, 

and technical contact for Defendant City and Defendant Rapid's domain registrations 

(www.citvvellowpages.us and www.rapidyellowpages.info). On the Rapid registration, 

Defendant Baxter uses an address for Defendant City. Defendant Baxter identifies his contact 

email address on both registrations as ebscollections@gmail.com. 
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herein, transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States, 

including in the State ofFlorida. 

21. Defendant Beitler incorporated Defendant Rapid on or around February 15, 2013, 

and has been listed as the President of Rapid since its inception. Defendant Beitler listed the 

principal and mailing addresses of Rapid as 495 Grand Blvd., Miramar Beach, FL 32550. 

22. Defendant Beitler opened a bank account with Bank of America in the name of 

Defendant Rapid ("Rapid Account"). Defendant City thereceiv
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DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 

25. Since at least 2012, Defendants have engaged in a plan, program, or campaign to 

deceptively sell listings in their business directories throughout the United States, including in 

the State of Florida. Consumers targeted by Defendants' scheme have included, among others, 

small businesses, nonprofits, doctors' offices, and churches (hereinafter "consumers"). 

26. Defendants market listings in their business directories by making unsolicited, 

misleading outbound phone calls to United States consumers and by sending unsolicited, 

misleading invoices or collection letters. In their initial contacts with consumers, Defendants 

misrepresent, expressly or by implication, that the consumers previously ordered a business 

directory listing from Defendants and, because the consumers authorized this order, Defendants 

already have placed listings for the consumers in Defendants' online business directory. 

27. In numerous instances, Defendants also inform the consumers that they owe fees 

for the second year of an alleged two-year business directory listing. Many consumers or their 

owners or employees inform Defendants that they did not agree to 
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image of two walking fingers, a symbol frequently associated with a local yellow pages 

directory. The invoices also misrepresent Defendants' location. Defendants' invoices typically 

bill consumers anywhere from $400 to over $1800 or more for a listing in Defendants' business 

directory. 

29. Because the consumers and their employees did not order a business directory 

listing 
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will be closed. Based on these promises, some consumers pay Defendants in order to stop 

Defendants' harassing phone calls and invoices. Nevertheless, 
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COUNT II 

(By Plaintiff FTC) 

38. In numerous instances in connection with the marketing, promotion, offering for 

sale, or sale of business directory listings, Defendants have 
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43. Therefore, Defendants' representation as set forth in Paragraph 41 ofthis 

Complaint is false and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of 

Section 5(a) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FDUTPA 

COUNT IV 

(By Plaintiff State of Florida) 

44. As set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 43 above, which allegations are incorporated 

as if set forth herein, Defendants have committed acts and practices that are unfai(act )Tj
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collection letters, that consumers have agreed to purchase a listing in Defendants' 

business directory when in numerous instances, consumers have not agreed to 

purchase a listing in Defendants' business directory; and/or 

c. Making false or misleading representations, directly or indirectly, 

expressly or by implication, through, inter alia, telephone calls, invoices, or 

collection letters that consumers owe money to Defendants for a listing in 

Defendants' business directory when in numerous instances, consumers do not 

owe money to Defendants for a listing in Defendants' business directory. 

47. The Individual Defendants Hinds, Baxter and Beitler are personally liable for the 

unlawful acts and practices of the Corporate Defendants as each of the Individual Defendants has 

the authority and power to control or direct the conduct at issue herein and/or actually 

participated in and directed the he directC
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THE COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

50. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court to grant 

injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and redress violations 

of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. The Court, in the exercise of its equitable 

jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission or reformation of contracts, 

restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, to prevent and 

remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. 

51. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, this Court has supplemental jurisdiction to allow 

Plaintiff State of Florida to enforce its state law claims against Defendants in this Court for 

violations ofthe FDUTPA. Florida Statutes Sections 501.207,501.2075, and 501.2077 
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preserve the possibility of effective final relief, including but not limited to, temporary and 

preliminary injunctions and an order freezing assets; 

B. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act and the 

FDUTPA by Defendants; 

C. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 

resulting from Defendants' 
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aburns@ftc.gov 
S. Spencer Elg 
Trial Counsel, Federal Trade Commission 
Special Bar No. A5501983 
selg@ftc.gov 
Federal Trade Commission 
225 Peachtree Street, Suite 1500 
Atlanta, GA 30303 
(404) 656-1350 [telephone] 
(404) 656-1379 [facsimile] 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

PAMELA JO BONDI 
Attorney General 
State of Florida 

Ryann Flack 
Assistant Attorney General 
Florida Bar No. 0018442 
Office of the Attorney General 
Consumer Protection Division 
444 Brickell A venue 
Miami, FL 33131 
(305) 

444 Brickell 
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